IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

ROBERTO AYALA
3008 Bluff Point Ln.
Silver Spring, MD 20906,

MAURICIO BAUTISTA
6605 Parkwood St.
Hyattsville, MD 20784,

GEREMIAS BERGANZA
2801 Newton St.
Silver Spring, MD 20902,

HECTOR R. DELGADO
1109 Gilbert Rd.
Rockville, MD 20851,

SABINO DIAZ

2276 Georgian Woods PI.

Silver Spring, MD 20902,

JOSE JIMENEZ

2370 Glenmont Cir., Apt. 112

Silver Spring, MD 20902,
and

DOMINGO ZAMORA

2356 Glenmont Cir., Apt. 201

Silver Spring, MD 20902

On Behalf of Themselves and
All Others Similarly Situated

PLAINTIFFS,

V.

TITO CONTRACTORS, INC.

7308 Georgia Ave., NW
Washington, D.C. 20012

and

Case No.:

Collective Action afilass Action
Complaints

Jury Trial Demanded



MAXIMO A. PIEROLA *

20804 Layton Ridge Drive *
Gaithersburg, MD 20882 *
DEFENDANTS. *

kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkhkkhkkkkkkkkkkkhkkhkkhkkkkkkkkkkkkkkk kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkhkkhkkhkkkkkkk

CLASS ACTION AND COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs Roberto Ayala (“Mr. Ayala”), Mauricio &utista (“Mr. Bautista”), Geremias Berganza
(“Mr. Berganza”), Hector R. Delgado (“Mr. DelgagpSabino Diaz (“Mr. Diaz”), José Jimenez (“Mr.
Jimenez”), and Domingo Zamora (“Mr. Zamora”) (cotigely, “Plaintiffs”), by and through
undersigned counsel, on behalf of themselves drdrars similarly situated, bring this Class Actio
and Collective Action Complaint against defendaitd Contractors, Inc. (“TITO”) and Maximo A.
Pierola (Mr. Tito) (together, “Defendants”), to oaer unpaid wages, unlawful deductions, liquidated
damagesreasonable attorney’s fees, costs, and othef asiappropriate under: Section 16(b) of the
Federal Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, as angri22U.S.C. 88 208&t seg. (“the FLSA”); Section
32-1012(b) of the D.C. Minimum Wage Act RevisiontAD.C. Code 88 32-1004 seq. (“the
DCMWA"); the D.C. Wage Payment and Collection L&WC. Code 88 32-130dt seg. (“the
DCWPCL"); the Maryland Wage and Hour Law, Maryla@dde Annotated, Labor and Employment
Article 88 3-401et seg. (hereinafter “the MWHL"); the Maryland Wage Paymand Collection Law
(“the MWPCL"), Maryland Code, Labor and Employmeticle 88 3-501et seq.; and District of
Columbia common law.

PARTIES AND JURISDICTION

1. Plaintiff Mr. Ayala resides in the State of MarythnMr. Ayala was employed by

Defendants from 1989 until the present. Mr. Ayalarently works as a supervisor to carpenters.



2. Plaintiff Mr. Bautista resides in the State of Mand. Mr. Bautista was
employed by Defendants from June 2004 until thegme Mr. Bautista currently works as a
supervisor.

3. Plaintiff Mr. Berganza resides in the State of Mang. Mr. Berganza was
employed by Defendants from March 2006 until thespnt. Mr. Berganza currently works as a
carpenter.

4, Plaintiff Mr. Delgado resides in the State of Mairiydl. Mr. Delgado was
employed by Defendants from the year 1998 untilpitesent. Mr. Delgado currently works as a
supervisor.

5. Plaintiff Mr. Diaz resides in the State of Marylanir. Diaz was employed by
Defendants from the year 2000 until the present. Diiz currently works as a group leader.

6. Plaintiff Mr. Jimenez resides in the State of Mand. Mr. Jimenez was
employed by Defendants from June 2004 until thegme Mr. Jimenez currently works as a
regular worker and painter.

7. Plaintiff Mr. Zamora resides in the State of Manda Mr. Zamora was employed
by Defendants from the year 2000 until the presét. Zamora currently works as a regular
worker.

8. Throughout their respective employment terms, @linBiffs performed various
construction and carpentry duties at various ptgées throughout Washington, D.C., Virginia,
and Maryland.

9. On information and belief, defendant TITO is a Mang corporation, organized

in 1979, with its principal place of business ie fistrict of Columbia. At all times relevant to



this action, TITO operated continuously in the Bestof Columbia and the surrounding states,
performing construction work and related services.

10. TITO is an enterprise engaged in interstate comenetthin the meaning of the
FLSA and is an employer of Plaintiffs within the améeng of the FLSA, the DCMWA, the
DCWPCL, the MWHL, and the MWPCL.

11. At all times relevant to this action, Plaintiffs eemployees engaged in
commerce within the meaning of the FLSA.

12. Defendant Mr. Tito (as he refers to himself amoisgemployees) resides in the
State of Maryland. Mr. Tito is the founder, presitl and owner of TITO and has exerted a
substantial amount of control over significant aspef TITO's day-to-day operations in the
District of Columbia and surrounding states dumtigelevant time periods.

13.  Mr. Tito is an employer of Plaintiffs within the meing of the FLSA, the
DCMWA, the DCWPCL, the MWHL, and the MWPCL.

14.  The unlawful acts charged in this Complaint wermpotted by Defendants
and/or Defendants’ officers, agents, employeesgnesentatives, while actively engaged in the
management of Defendants’ businesses or affairsvdthdhe authorization of Defendants.

15.  This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants purstarsection 16(b) of the
FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and 28 U.S.C. § 1337irgeto “any civil action or proceeding
arising under any Act of Congress regulating conaeér Subject matter jurisdiction is invoked
under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. This Court has supplem@mtsdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law
claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a) because thosaskaiise from a common set of operative
facts and are so related to the claims in the maaetithin the original jurisdiction of the Court tha

they form part of the same case or controversynu€as proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.



COLLECTIVE ACTION AND CLASS ACTION COMPLAINTS

16. This action is brought as a collective action parguo the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. §
216(b), and the DCMWA, D.C. Code § 32-1012(b), lirRiffs, on behalf of themselves and all
other employees similarly situated, based on enmpéoy with Defendants as non-exempt,
hourly-paid or salaried employees between OctoBePQ10 and the date of the final disposition
of this action (the “Class Period”), to recovertlasges, overtime compensation, liquidated
damages, interest, attorneys’ fees, costs, amdredr relief as appropriate for Defendants’
willful statutory violations.

17.  Plaintiffs have each given their written consenbégarty plaintiffs in this action

under the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and under t6&WA, D.C. Code § 32-1012(b).
Plaintiffs’ consents are appended to this ComplasmAttachments 1-7.

18. Plaintiffs also bring this action as a class acparsuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a),
(b)(2), and (b)(3) on behalf of themselves and ¢rmmilarly situated for violations of the
DCWPCL, the MWHL, the MWPCL, and District of Columbcommon law to enjoin
Defendants’ unlawful conduct and to recover unldw&ductions, treble damages, interest,
attorneys’ fees, costs, and all other relief ag@ppate for Defendants’ willful statutory
violations. Plaintiffs and all other persons whie ar have been employed by Defendants as
non-exempt, hourly-paid or salaried employees gitiame during the Class Period will be
referred to jointly as the “Class Members.”

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL CLAIMS

19.  Throughout the relevant time periods, Defendantsiged construction services
to customers, including landscaping, masonry, atedtwork, carpentry, and painting at various

locations in the District of Columbia, Maryland,ca¥irginia.



20. Defendants’ frequent clientele includes the fedaral state governments.
Plaintiffs and Class Members performed under fddstate and county contracts at Defendants’
request.

21. Upon information and belief, Defendants have, dutlre Class Period, employed
over one hundred (100) hourly-paid or salaried eyg#s, who were assigned to various project
sites throughout the District of Columbia, Marylaadd Virginia.

22. Defendants authorized, assented to, or were aviidine avork performed by
Plaintiffs and Class Members for the benefit of &efants.

23. Plaintiffs and Class Members were assigned to \@bgarticular job sites by
Defendants. When compensation was paid to Plsnitifwas done by means of checks
reflecting “Tito Contractors, Inc.” as the drawértioe check.

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

24. Defendants routinely required Plaintiffs and simylaituated employees to work
in excess of forty (40) hours in one workweek.

25. Defendants had a legal obligation to pay their lygpaid and salaried employees
overtime wages of time-and-one-half (1%2) their fegbourly rate of pay for every hour worked
in excess of forty (40) hours each workweek.

26. Despite Defendants’ obligations under relevant weaapk hour laws, Defendants
intentionally created and implemented a systemuidinovhich they denied Plaintiffs and
similarly situated employees overtime wages.

27.  Upon information and belief, throughout the cowséhe Plaintiffs’ employment,

while Plaintiffs and similarly situated employeesre denied overtime wages:



a. Plaintiffs and similarly situated employees ofteorked up to eighty-four
(84) hours per week;

b. Defendants knew that Plaintiffs and similarly stechemployees often
worked from sixty (60) to eighty (80) hours per Wee

c. Defendants often insisted that Plaintiffs and santyl situated employees
work from sixty (60) to eighty (80) hours per week;

d. Defendants threatened Plaintiffs and similarlyatiéad employees to perform
beyond forty (40) hours a week to retain employment

e. Defendants directed and forced Plaintiffs and sinyilsituated employees to
underreport the number of hours worked each weaek; a

f. Defendants consistently reported Plaintiffs’ armdikirly situated employees’
overtime hours as regular hours.

28. Defendants’ compensation policies set forth abaresttute willful, knowing,
and intentional violations of the FLSA and DCMWA.

29. Defendants authorized, assented to, or were avwanege violations and the
work performed by the Plaintiffs and similarly sited employees.

30. At no time did Plaintiffs perform work that meebetdefinition of exempt work
under the FLSA or DCMWA.

31. Defendants also violated the FLSA and DCMWA by dmmating against
various Plaintiffs and similarly situated employeds complained about Defendants’ payment
practices.

32. At allrelevant times, Defendants failed to podtices of employees’ rights under

the FLSA and DCMWA on work premises.



33. Defendant furthermore failed to keep comprehensiployment records as
required under the FLSA and DCMWA.

34. Defendants’ failure to keep accurate time recoeds$scthe burden on Defendant
to disprove the testimony of employees as to tha@mnbers of hours worked.

35.  The collective action that Plaintiffs propose toimbain under the FLSA, 29
U.S.C. § 216(b) and under the DCMWA, D.C. Code 81822(b), includes all similarly situated
individuals who are or have been employed by Dedatglas non-exempt, hourly-paid or
salaried employees who were not paid time-and-atie(h2) their regular hourly rate for every
hour over forty (40) they worked in any given wodeak during the Class Period.

36.  During the Class Period, the duties and respongisilof the jobs held by
individuals similarly situated to the Plaintiffs veethe same or substantially similar to the duties
and responsibilities of the jobs held by the Piésitin that all employees performed a variety of
construction, carpentry, and odd jobs.

37. During the Class Period, the harms suffered byiddals similarly situated to
the Plaintiffs were the same or substantially ssmib those suffered by the Plaintiffs, in that all
such employees are and were subject to the Defesidamawful compensation policies and
practices described in this Complaint.

38.  Accordingly, all members of the proposed collecaetion are “similarly
situated” within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S§216(b), and under the DCMWA, D.C.
Code § 32-1012(b), and are therefore entitled vaged on a collective basis.

39. The Plaintiffs are aware of other similarly sitwtedividuals: (1) who were, or

are currently, employees of Defendants; (2) whoewet, or are not currently, paid as



prescribed by law by Defendants; (3) who had theiges unlawfully withheld by Defendants;

and (4) who have not joined this suit for fear Defents will retaliate against them.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

40. Oninformation and belief, throughout Plaintiffshployment, Defendants:

a.

routinely underreported hours, thereby failing &y P laintiffs and Class
Members full wages earned;

consistently failed to pay overtime wages earned;

routinely deducted wages from Plaintiffs’ and Gld%embers’ paychecks for,
inter alia, tax purposes, medical costs, the use of compaliphones, the use
of automobiles and other costs. Many of these c&mhs provided no actual
benefit to Plaintiffs and Class Members.

failed to keep accurate time records for Plaintéfsd Class Members’ hours
worked; and

failed to post conspicuously on work premises sunesaf employees’

rights.

41. Defendants’ policies, practices, unlawful deducticend wage withholding

constitute willful, knowing, and intentional violahs of the DCWPCL, the MWHL, the

MWPCL, and District of Columbia common law.

42. Defendants furthermore took adverse action agaarsus Plaintiffs and Class

Members for complaining about Defendants’ paymeattces, violating the MWHL.

43. Defendants authorized, assented to, or were avénese violations.



44.  The class action that Plaintiffs propose to mamtaider District of Columbia
and Maryland laws are properly maintainable asascaction pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a)
and 23(b)(2) and 23(b)(3).

45.  Plaintiffs seek to represent Class Members congisit:

All persons who are or have been employed by Defietsdas hourly-paid
or salaried employees at any time between Octo®e2d10 and the
present.

46. Upon information and belief, the Class Members aasepover one hundred
(100) present and former employees. The Class Mesvdre so numerous that joinder of all
members is impracticable.

47.  The duties and responsibilities of the jobs heldhHgyClass Members were the
same as or substantially similar to the dutiesrasgonsibilities of the Plaintiffs.

48.  Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of G&Members because they are or
were subject to the same unlawful deductions asritbes! in this Complaint.

49.  Plaintiffs are adequate representatives of thesWembers because Plaintiffs
and Class Members are or were subject to, and dadrtag the same unlawful deduction and
wage theft practices as described in this Complaint

50. Application of Defendants’ policies and compensapoactice does not depend on the
personal circumstances of Plaintiffs or those farthis lawsuit. Rather, the same policy or practic
which resulted in the non-payment and deductiowaijes applies to all class members.

51. Plaintiffs and Class Members each challenge thalitggf the policies and
practices as described in this Complaint. By adwantheir own claims, Plaintiffs will

necessarily advance the claims of the Class Members
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52.  Plaintiffs will have no conflict with any Class Mé&ers and are willing to serve in
this representative role.

53. Plaintiffs have retained counsel that are competrdtexperienced in class action
litigation and who will adequately represent thasslMembers.

54.  Questions of fact and law common to all Class Mambell predominate over
any questions solely affecting individual Class M@ns. Among common questions are:

a. whether Defendants’ wage theft policies and prastget forth in this
Complaint took place as alleged;

b. whether Defendants’ policies and practices corstitolations of the
DCWPCL, the MWHL, the MWPCL, and District of Columbcommon law;
and

c. whether Class Members are entitled to relief agestpd in this Complaint.

55. Defendants have acted and/or refused to act omdsogenerally applicable to all Class
Members and relief concerning the class as a wikdlerefore appropriate.

56. Because Plaintiffs and Class Members suffereddhesharms and challenge the
same unlawful deductions practices described sm@amplaint, a class action is superior to the
alternatives, if any, for the fair and efficienfaication of the controversy alleged herein. Such
treatment will permit a large number of similarijusted persons to prosecute their common
claims in a single forum simultaneously and efithg, without the duplication of effort and
expense and the risk of inconsistent or varying@didgations presented by numerous individuals.

57.  No difficulties are likely to be encountered in thanagement of this class action,

and the identity of the Class Members should bdikeavailable from Defendants’ records.
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58. Additionally, Class Members may be informed of pesdency of this class
action by mailing, the internet, posting at Defemdawork locations, or other means.

ALLEGATIONS OF RETALIATORY CONDUCT

59.  Upon information and belief, in conjunction with @adants’ wage theft
practices, Defendants, their officers, agents,leyags, or representatives, willfully, knowingly,
and intentionally discriminated against certainmifis and similarly situated employees in
response to complaints regarding Defendants’ mesti

60. In September 2013, Plaintiff Mr. Diaz was demoteavbrk in an isolated
warehouse.

61. Upon information and belief, Defendants demotedMaz based on his
involvement in this litigation and his expressesistance to working over eight (8) hours per
day without time-and-one-half (1%2) pay.

62. In October 2013, Mr. Bautista’s hours were reduceeight (8) hours a day, five
(5) days a week.

63. Upon information and belief, Defendants reduced B&utista’s hours in
response to his contributions to organizing thigslait.

64. In October 2013, after requesting overtime payinifés Mr. Bautista and Mr.
Berganza, along with other similarly situated ergpls, were told they could only work over
forty (40) hours per week if they waived their tigho time-and-one-half (1%2) pay.

65. Plaintiffs are aware of other similarly situatediinduals whose employment was
discriminated against or terminated for failurevark overtime without time-and-one-half (1%2)
pay.

CAUSES OF ACTION

12



VIOLATION OF THE FEDERgLOIL:JANILILABOR STANDARDS ACT
(FLSA) — OVERTIME

66. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refererw dllegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 — 65 above.

67. Section 207(a)(1) of the FLSA provides that “no @ypr shall employ any of
his employees . . . for a workweek longer thanyfadurs unless such employee receives
compensation for his employment in excess of thesiabove specified at a rate not less than
one and one-half times the regular rate at whicis leenployed.”

68.  Plaintiffs, and all others similarly situated, wéeenployees” and Defendants
were their “employers” under the FLSA, § 203.

69. Defendants violated the FLSA by knowingly failimgc@ompensate Plaintiffs, and
all other similarly situated individuals, the ratietime-and-one-half (1¥2) their regular hourly
rate for every hour worked in excess of forty (AOurs in any one workweek..

70. Defendants’ violations of the FLSA were repeateiiful; intentional, and in bad
faith.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs, attiebther similarly situated
individuals, under the FLSA, § 216(b), for all umpavertime wages, plus an equal amount in
liquidated damages, interest (both pre- and podgent), attorney’s fees, costs, and any other
and further relief this Court deems appropriate.

COUNT 1l
VIOLATION OF THE D.C. MINIMUM WAGE ACT REVISION ACT
(DCMWA) — OVERTIME

71.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refereree dllegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 — 70 above.
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72.  Plaintiffs, and all others similarly situated, wéeenployees” and Defendants
were their “employers” under the DCMWA, 8§ 32-1002.

73.  Section 32-1003(c) of the DCMWA provides that “[rdoployer shall employ
any employee for a workweek that is longer thamd@rs, unless the employee receives
compensation for employment in excess of 40 houasrate not less than 1 %2 times the regular
rate at which the employee is employed.”

74.  Defendants violated the DCMWA by knowingly failibgg compensate Plaintiffs,
and all other similarly situated individuals, tlee of time-and-one-half (1%2) their regular
hourly rate for every hour worked in excess ofyf@®0) hours in any one workweek..

75. Defendants’ violations of the DCMWA were repeatediful, intentional, and in
bad faith.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs, attiebther similarly situated
individuals, under the DCMWA, § 32-1012, for allpand overtime wages, plus an equal amount
in liquidated damages, interest (both pre- and-poggment), attorney’s fees, costs, and any
other and further relief this Court deems appraeria

COUNT 1l
VIOLATION OF THE MARYLAND WAGE AND HOUR LAW
(MWHL) — OVERTIME

76.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refererw dllegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 — 75 above.

77. Plaintiffs and Class Members were “employees” aefeDdants were their

“employers” under the MWHL, § 3-401.
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78.  As Plaintiffs’ and Class Members’ employers, Defemis were obligated to pay
Plaintiffs at the rate of one and one-half (1.B)as Plaintiffs’ regular rate of pay for hours
worked each week in excess of forty (40) undenikéHL, 88§ 3-415, 420.

79. Defendants violated the MWHL by knowingly failing tompensate Plaintiffs
and Class Members the rate of time-and-one-halj (b&r regular hourly rate for every hour
worked in excess of forty (40) hours in any one kmagek.

80. Defendants’ violations of the MWHL were repeatedlfwl, intentional, and in
bad faith.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs &ass Members, under § 3-427, for
all unpaid overtime wages, interest (both pre- @ost- judgment), attorney’s fees, costs, and any
other and further relief this Court deems appraeria

COUNT IV
VIOLATION OF THE D.C. WAGE PAYMENT AND COLLECTIONL AW
(DCWPCL) — UNPAID WAGES AND UNLAWFUL DEDUCTIONS

81. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refererfee dllegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 — 80 above.

82.  Plaintiffs and Class Members were “employees” aeteBdants were their
“employers” under the DCWPCL, § 32-1301.

83.  Under the DCWPCL, § 32-1302, Defendants were redub pay Plaintiffs and
Class Members all wages due for work performed.

84. Defendants failed to timely pay Plaintiffs and Gldembers their promised and

required wage rate for all hours they worked, wlation of the DCWPCL, § 32-1302.
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85. Defendants made unlawful deductions from Plairitéfsd Class Members’
earned wages and thus failed to pay Plaintiffs@lags Members their promised and required
wage rate in violation of the DCWPCL, § 32-1302.

86. Defendants’ violations of the DCWPCL were repeatatiful, intentional, and in
bad faith.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs &ass Members under the
DCWPCL, § 32-1308, for their unpaid wages, liquathtlamages, interest (both pre- and post-
judgment), attorneys’ fees, costs, and any othérfanher relief this Court deems appropriate.

COUNT V
VIOLATION OF THE MARYLAND WAGE PAYMENT AND COLLECTI  ON LAW
(MWPCL) — UNPAID WAGES AND UNLAWFUL DEDUCTIONS

87.  Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refereriee dllegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 — 86 above.

88. Defendants were the “employers” of Plaintiffs and¥s Members under the
MWPCL, § 3-501.

89. Under the MWPCL, § 3-502, Defendants were requiogoly Plaintiffs and
Class Members all wages due for work performed.

90. Defendants failed to timely pay Plaintiffs and Gld4embers their promised and
required wage rate for all hours they worked, mlation of the MWPCL, § 3-502.

91. Defendants made unlawful deductions from Plairitéfsd Class Members’
earned wages and thus failed to pay Plaintiffs@lags Members their promised and required
wage rate in violation of the MWPCL, § 3-503.

92. Defendants’ violations of the MWPCL were repeatgtiful, intentional, and in

bad faith.
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WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs &tass Members under the
MWPCL, § 3-507.1 for three times their unpaid wageterest (both pre- and post- judgment),
attorneys’ fees, costs, and any other and furtesfithis Court deems appropriate.

COUNT VI
VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT
(FLSA) — RETALIATION

93. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refererfee dllegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 — 92 above.

94.  Section 215(a)(3) of the FLSA provides that “it kba unlawful for any person .
.. to discharge or in any other manner discringreggainst any employee because such employee
has filed any complaint or instituted or causebtdanstituted any proceeding under or related to
this chapter . . . .”

95. Defendants violated the FLSA by knowingly discriatimg against Plaintiffs Mr.
Diaz, Mr. Berganz4a, and Mr. Bautista, and similaityated employees, in response to
complaints regarding Defendants’ failure and reftsabide by the FLSA.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Mr. Diaz, Merganza, and Mr. Bautista, and
all other similarly situated individuals, under £62b) for such legal and equitable relief as
appropriate, including employment, reinstatemerdangtion, unpaid wages, an additional
amount as liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees;dsis of this action, and any other and further
relief this Court deems appropriate.

COUNT VIl
BREACH OF ORAL EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT —
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COMMON LAW

96. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by refererfee dllegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 — 95 above.
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97. Defendants entered into binding oral contracts WRidintiffs and Class Members
for employment, imposing duties on these partiekiding, but not limited to, the payment of
wages for every hour of work performed.

98. Plaintiffs and Class Members performed under tla¢ @yntracts by executing
their work duties for as long as they were permittedo so.

99. Defendants failed to perform their duties with essto the payment of wages
and thus breached their contracts with Plaintifid €lass Members.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs @ass Members for the economic
harms caused by Defendants breach of contractdimgjithe payment of wages due,
prejudgment interest, and other compensation anthges that Plaintiffs would have received
but for Defendants’ breach of contract.

COUNT VI
UNJUST ENRICHMENT/QUANTUM MERUIT —
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COMMON LAW

100. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by referere dllegations set forth in
paragraphs 1 — 99 above.

101. By performing services and work at the directioefendants, Plaintiffs and
Class Members conferred substantial benefits upefaridlants.

102. Named Plaintiffs did not perform this work gratwsty, but rather with the
expectation of being lawfully compensated.

103. Defendants received valuable compensation for & werformed by Plaintiffs
and Class Members, including inflated governmemntreets based on prevailing wages.

104. Defendants appreciated, accepted, and retainduketiefits of the work performed

by Plaintiffs and Class Members.
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105. In exchange for the benefits conferred upon Defeteday Plaintiffs, Defendants
did not compensate Plaintiffs and Class Membetbhdaxtent required by agreement and by
law.

106. The hours that Plaintiffs and Class Members wowked for which they were not
properly compensated were performed at the dinreeiw behest of Defendants or those
authorized to act on behalf of Defendants.

WHEREFORE, Defendants are liable to Plaintiffs @&ass Members for the value of
the benefits of the work performed by Plaintiffsla@lass Members.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves atiter similarly situated,
respectfully request that the Court:
A. Declare this action to be maintainable as a callecction pursuant to the FLSA,
29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and the DCMWA, § 32-1012(b), dindct Defendants to provide to
Plaintiffs a list of all persons employed by thesnhaurly and salaried employees during
the Class Period, including the last known addassktelephone number of each such
person, so that Plaintiffs can give such persomtisenof this action and an opportunity to
make an informed decision about whether to pasdteipn it.
B. Determine the damages sustained by the Plaintiffing the Class Period as a
result of Defendants’ willful and intentional vidians of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 207(a),
and the DCMWA, D.C. Code § 32-1003(c), and awaxhsack pay and unpaid
overtime wages against Defendants in favor of Hftsrand all similarly situated
individuals, plus an additional equal amount asitigted damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C.

8§ 216(b) and § 32-1012(b), plus such pre-judgmaetest as may be allowed by law;
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C. Declare this Action to be maintainable as a Clasi3oA as to the claims brought
under the District of Columbia and Maryland lawsguant to Fed. R. Civ. R3;

D. Determine the damages sustained by Plaintiffs dagsGViembers during the
Class Period as a result of Defendants’ willful arténtional violations of the

DCWPCL, the MWHL, the MWPCL, and District of Columbcommon law, and award
all appropriate damages resulting therefrom tonfifés and Class Members;

E. Determine that injunctive relief is appropriate@she Class Members and enjoin
Defendants from continuing to violate the FLSA, BDEMWA, the DCWPCL, the
MWHL, and the MWPCL.

F. Determine the damages sustained by Plaintiffs,adirsdimilarly situated
employees, during the Class Period as a resule@driglants’ willful and intentional
violations of the FLSA, § 215(a)(3), and awardaglpropriate damages resulting
therefrom to Plaintiffs and similarly situated ewwy#es pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b);
G. Award Plaintiffs, their costs and disbursementthe suit, including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, accountdeés, investigators’ fees, experts’ fees,
and other associated costs; and

H. Grant Plaintiffs, Class Members, and all similasipated individuals such other
and further relief as this Court may deem just piraper.

PLAINTIFFS AND ALL CLASS MEMBERS DEMAND A TRIAL BYJURY ON ALL

CLAIMS SO TRIABLE.

Dated: October 18, 2013 Respectfully submitted,

By: /s/_Maximilian A. Grant
Maximilian A. Grant (D.C. Bar #481610)
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max.grant@Iw.com
Timothy J. O'Brien (D.C. Bar #1015631)

(Application for Admission Pending)
timothy.obrien@Iw.com

LATHAM & WATKINS LLP

555 Eleventh St., NW Suite 1000
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